## UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

## **FORM 10-Q**

☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended July 30, 2022 OR

	OR	
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION	N 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EX	CHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the train	nsition period from to	
	Commission file number 001-37404	
	DAVIDSTEA	
(Exact	<b>DAVIDSTEA Inc.</b> name of registrant as specified in its charter	<u> </u>
·	name of regionalit as specified in its charter,	,
Canada		98-1048842
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)		(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
	5430 Ferrier	
	<u>unt-Royal, Québec, Canada, H4P 1M2</u>	
(Addre	ess of principal executive offices) (zip code)	)
	<u>(888) 873-0006</u>	
(Registr	rant's telephone number, including area code	e)
Securities r	registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the	e Act:
Title of	Name of Each Exchange on	Trading Symbol
Each Class  Common shares, no par value per share	Which Registered NASDAQ	for Each Class DTEA
Common states, no par value per state	Global Market	515.1
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter perior requirements for the past 90 days. Yes $\boxtimes$ No $\square$		
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitt Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the prec such files). Yes $\boxtimes$ No $\square$		
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large a emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.		
Large accelerated filer $\Box$	Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer ⊠	Smaller reporting compa	
	Emerging growth compa	ny 🗆
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant		tended transition period for complying with any new
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell con	npany (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exch	ange Act). Yes □ No ⊠
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed		
Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of secu	urities under a plan confirmed by a court. Ye	es 🖾 No 🗀

The brand, service or product names or marks referred to in this Quarterly Report are trademarks or services marks, registered or otherwise, of DAVIDsTEA Inc. and our wholly-owned subsidiary, DAVIDsTEA (USA) Inc.

#### DAVIDSTEA Inc.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.	Consolidated Financial Statements	3
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	12
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	24
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	24
	PART II. OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	25
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	25
Item 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities</u>	25
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	25
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	25
Item 5.	Other Information	25
Item 6.	Exhibits	26

DAVIDsTEA Inc. (the "Company"), a corporation incorporated under the *Canada Business Corporations Act*, qualifies as a foreign private issuer in the United States for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). As a foreign private issuer, the Company has chosen to file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") instead of filing the reporting forms available to foreign private issuers, although the Company is not required to do so.

In this Quarterly Report, unless otherwise specified, all monetary amounts are in Canadian dollars, all references to "\$," "C\$," "CAD", "Canadian dollars" and "dollars" mean Canadian dollars and all references to "U.S. dollars", "US\$" and "USD" mean U.S. dollars.

On September 9, 2022, the Bank of Canada exchange rate was US\$1.00 = CAD\$1.3035.

2

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Part I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

#### **Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements**

## DAVIDSTEA Inc.

**Incorporated under the laws of Canada** 

## INTERIM CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

## $[ Unaudited \ and \ in \ thousands \ of \ Canadian \ dollars]$

	As	at
	July 30, 2022 \$	January 29, 2022 \$
ASSETS		
Current		
Cash	19,048	25,107
Accounts and other receivables	2,497	3,209
Inventories	30,234	31,048
Prepaid expenses and deposits	5,172	4,142
Total current assets	56,951	63,506
Property and equipment	739	775
Intangible assets	1,957	2,234

Right-of-use assets		10,829	12,087
Total assets		70,476	78,602
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	_		
Current			
Trade and other payables		11,701	12,300
Deferred revenue		5,430	5,434
Current portion of lease liabilities		2,484	2,364
Total current liabilities		19,615	20,098
Non-current portion of lease liabilities		8,945	10,189
Total liabilities	_	28,560	30,287
Commitments and contingencies			
Equity	[Note 4]		
Share capital		113,862	113,534
Contributed surplus		2,545	2,507
Deficit		(77,466)	(70,671)
Accumulated other comprehensive income		2,975	2,945
Total equity		41,916	48,315
Total liabilities and equity		70,476	78,602

See accompanying notes.

3

## **Table of Contents**

## DAVIDsTEA Inc.

## Incorporated under the laws of Canada

## INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET (LOSS) INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

[Unaudited and in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share information]

		For the three-m	onths ended	For the six-mo	nths ended
		July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$	July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$
Sales	[Note 9]	15,225	18,743	35,660	41,992
Cost of sales		8,751	10,748	20,222	23,229
Gross profit		6,474	7,995	15,438	18,763
Selling, general and administration expenses	[Note 5]	11,219	9,085	22,025	18,279
Restructuring plan activities, net	[Note 6]	<del>_</del>	(75,557)	_	(77,159)
Results from operating activities		(4,745)	74,467	(6,587)	77,643
Finance costs		167	23	338	33
Finance income		(77)	(34)	(116)	(89)
Net income (loss) before income taxes		(4,835)	74,478	(6,809)	77,699
Recovery of income taxes	[Note 6,8]	_	(1,000)	_	(1,000)
Net (loss) income		(4,835)	75,478	(6,809)	78,699
Other comprehensive income:					
Cumulative translation adjustment		12	200	30	1,012
Other comprehensive income, net of tax		12	200	30	1,012
Total comprehensive (loss) income		(4,823)	75,678	(6,779)	79,711
Net (loss) earnings per share:					
Basic	[Note 7]	(0.18)	2.87	(0.26)	3.00
Fully diluted	[Note 7]	(0.18)	2.75	(0.26)	2.87
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:					
Basic	[Note 7]	26,487,933	26,299,094	26,456,830	26,270,284
Fully diluted	[Note 7]	26,487,933	27,455,005	26,456,830	27,422,066

See accompanying notes.

4

Table of Contents

DAVIDsTEA Inc.

**Incorporated under the laws of Canada** 

INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

[Unaudited and in thousands of Canadian dollars]

		For the three-m	onths ended	For the six-months ended	
		July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$	July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$
OPERATING ACTIVITIES					
Net (loss) income		(4,835)	75,478	(6,809)	78,699
Items not affecting cash:					
Depreciation of property and equipment		88	407	164	795
Amortization of intangible assets		137	484	277	887
Amortization of right-of-use assets		669	135	1,319	294
Gain on liabilities subject to compromise, including the recovery of income taxes	[Note 6]	_	(77,713)	_	(79,861)
Interest on lease liabilities		167	23	334	33
Stock-based compensation expense		398	363	708	545
Sub-total		(3,376)	(823)	(4,007)	1,392
Net change in non-cash working capital balances related to					
operations		641	(18,256)	(406)	(19,164)
Cash flows used in operating activities		(2,735)	(19,079)	(4,413)	(17,772)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES					
Payment of lease liabilities including interest		(769)	(139)	(1,518)	(322)
Cash flows used in financing activities		(769)	(139)	(1,518)	(322)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES					
Additions to property and equipment		(128)	(52)	(128)	(52)
Cash flows used in investing activities		(128)	(52)	(128)	(52)
Decrease in cash during the period		(3,632)	(19,270)	(6,059)	(18,146)
Cash, beginning of the period		22,680	31,321	25,107	30,197
Cash, end of the period		19,048	12,051	19,048	12,051
Supplemental Information					
Cash paid for:					
Interest		_	_	_	_
Income taxes (classified as operating activity)		_	_	_	_
Cash received for:					
Interest		43	39	77	94
Income taxes (classified as operating activity)		<u>—</u>	_	_	_

See accompanying notes.

\_

<u>Table of Contents</u>

## DAVIDsTEA Inc.

## Incorporated under the laws of Canada

## INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)

## [Unaudited and in thousands of Canadian dollars]

	Share capital \$	Contributed surplus \$	Deficit \$	Accumulated other comprehensive income	Total equity (deficiency) \$
Balance, January 29, 2022	113,534	2,507	(70,671)	2,945	48,315
Net loss for the six months ended July 30, 2022	_	_	(6,809)	_	(6,809)
Other comprehensive income	_	_	_	30	30
Total comprehensive loss	_	_	(6,809)	30	(6,779)
Common shares issued on vesting of restricted stock units	328	(670)	14	_	(328)
Stock-based compensation expense		708			708
Balance, July 30, 2022	113,862	2,545	(77,466)	2,975	41,916
Balance, January 30, 2021	113,167	1,747	(148,068)	1,863	(31,291)
Net income for the six months ended July 31, 2021	_	_	78,699	_	78,699
Other comprehensive income	_	_	_	1,012	1,012
Total comprehensive income	_	_	78,699	1,012	79,711
Common shares issued on vesting of restricted stock units	239	(486)	(493)	_	(740)
Stock-based compensation expense		545			545
Balance, July 31, 2021	113,406	1,806	(69,862)	2,875	48,225

See accompanying notes.

#### DAVIDsTEA Inc.

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the three and six-month periods ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021 [Unaudited]

[Amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share amounts]

#### 1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements of DAVIDsTEA Inc. and its subsidiary, DAVIDsTEA (USA) Inc., (collectively, the "Company") for the three and six-month periods ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021 were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on September 9, 2022. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Canada and its shares are publicly traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol "DTEA". The registered office is located at 5430 Ferrier St., Town of Mount-Royal, Québec, Canada, H4P 1M2.

The Company offers a specialty branded selection of high-quality proprietary loose-leaf teas, pre-packaged teas, tea sachets, tea-related accessories and gifts through its e-commerce platform at www.davidstea.com and the Amazon Marketplace, its wholesale customers which include over 3,800 grocery stores and pharmacies, and 18 Company-owned stores across Canada. The Company offers primarily proprietary tea blends that are exclusive to the Company, as well as traditional single-origin teas and herbs. Our passion for and knowledge of tea permeates our culture and is rooted in an excitement to explore the taste, health and lifestyle elements of tea. With a focus on innovative flavours, wellness-driven ingredients and organic tea, the Company launches seasonally driven "collections" with a mission of making tea fun and accessible to all.

Sales fluctuate from quarter to quarter. Sales are traditionally highest in the fourth fiscal quarter due to the year-end holiday season and tend to be lowest in the second and third fiscal quarters because of lower customer engagement during the summer months.

#### 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, "Interim Financial Reporting" as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). Accordingly, these financial statements do not include all the financial statement disclosures required for annual financial statements and should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended January 29, 2022, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the IASB. In management's opinion, the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements reflect all the adjustments that are necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim period presented. These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accounting policies and methods of computation as outlined in Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended January 29, 2022.

## 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of condensed interim consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions using judgment that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense during the reporting period. Estimates and other judgments are continually evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations about future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

In preparing these unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements, critical judgments made by management in applying the Company's accounting policies and the key sources of estimation uncertainty were the same as those referred to in Note 5 of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended January 29, 2022.

7

#### **Table of Contents**

## 4. SHARE CAPITAL

#### Authorized

An unlimited number of common shares.

#### **Issued and outstanding**

	July 30,	January 29,
	2022	2022
	\$	\$
Share Capital - (26.561,744) Common shares (January 29, 2022 - 26.423,717)	113,862	113.534

During the three and six-month periods ended July 30, 2022, 134,452 and 138,027 common shares, respectively, (July 31, 2021 - 104,200 and 125,387 common shares, respectively), were issued in relation to the vesting of restricted stock units ("RSU"), resulting in an increase in share capital of \$322 and \$328, net of tax (July 31, 2021 - \$70 and \$239, net of tax respectively) and a reduction in contributed surplus of \$658 and \$670 respectively (July 31, 2021 - \$142 and \$486, respectively).

#### Stock-based compensation

As at July 30, 2022, 694,412 (July 31, 2021, 937,868) common shares remain available for issuance under the 2015 Omnibus Plan.

No stock options were granted during the three and six-month periods ended July 30, 2022 and July 31, 2021. A summary of the status of the Company's stock option plan during the six-month periods is presented below.

	For the six-months ended			
	July	July 30, 2022		31,
	202			.1
		Weighted		Weighted
		average		average
	Options	exercise	Options	exercise
	outstanding	price	outstanding	price
	#	\$	#	\$
Outstanding and exercisable - beginning and end of period	3,490	14.39	17,490	6.32

A summary of the status of the Company's RSU plan and changes during the six-month periods are presented below.

	For the six-months ended			
	July 30, 2022		July 31, 2021	
	RSUs outstanding #	Weighted average fair value per unit (1) \$	RSUs outstanding #	Weighted average fair value per unit (1)
Outstanding, beginning of period	1,282,790	2.60	1,306,101	1.70
Granted	511,264	2.66	425,764	4.64
Forfeitures	(27,466)	2.28	(32,747)	1.50
Vested	(138,027)	2.38	(125,387)	1.91
Vested, withheld for tax	(143,711)	2.38	(130,562)	1.91
Outstanding, end of period	1,484,850	2.67	1,443,169	2.53

<sup>(1)</sup> Weighted average fair value per unit as at date of grant.

During the three and six-month periods ended July 30, 2022, the Company recognized a stock-based compensation expense of \$398 and \$708, respectively (July 31, 2021 – \$363 and \$545, respectively).

Ω

## Table of Contents

#### 5. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

The Company qualified in Fiscal 2021 for the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy and the Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan of the Government of Canada. During the three and six-month periods ended July 30, 2022, the Company recognized payroll and rent subsidies of \$nil (July 31, 2021 – \$2.5 million and \$3.6 million, respectively).

	For the three-m	For the three-months ended		onths ended
	July 30, 2022	July 31, 2021	July 30, 2022	July 31, 2021
	<u> </u>	\$	\$	\$
Wages, salaries and employee benefits	3,542	3,447	6,950	6,824
Marketing expenses	1,609	1,692	3,906	2,896
IT ongoing expenses	1,326	1,173	2,735	2,487
Software implementation and configuration costs	1,325	1,592	2,080	2,454
Credit card fees	275	443	677	979
Director & officer and other insurance	343	305	690	565
Professional and consulting fees	764	790	1,159	1,255
Depreciation of property and equipment	88	407	164	795
Amortization of intangible assets	137	484	277	887
Amortization right-of-use asset	669	135	1,319	294
Stock-based compensation	398	363	708	545
Other selling, general and administration	743	786	1,360	1,894
Sub-total	11,219	11,617	22,025	21,875
Government emergency wage and rent subsidy	<u></u>	(2,532)		(3,596)
	11,219	9,085	22,025	18,279

#### 6. RESTRUCTURING PLAN ACTIVITIES, NET

On July 8, 2020, the Company announced that it was implementing a restructuring plan (the "Restructuring Plan") under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) (the "CCAA") in order to accelerate its transition to predominantly an online retailer and wholesaler of high-quality tea and accessories. At a creditors' meeting held on June 11, 2021, the Company's Plan of Arrangement was approved by the requisite majorities of creditors of the

Company. As a result, the Company was required and paid approximately \$17.6 million to its creditors in full and final settlement in the second quarter of Fiscal 2021.

During the three-and six-month periods ended July 31, 2021, the Company recorded a net gain on the settlement of liabilities subject to compromise of \$75,557 and \$77,159, respectively net of professional fees in connection with the CCAA proceedings of \$1,156 and \$1,702, respectively and before a gain from the recovery of income taxes of \$1,000 for both periods. This net gain is presented in the interim consolidated statement of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) in Restructuring Plan activities, net and Recovery of income taxes.

#### 7. NET (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic Net (loss) earnings per share ("EPS") amounts are calculated by dividing the Net (loss) income for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the Net (loss) income attributable to ordinary equity holders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares, unless these would be anti-dilutive.

9

## Table of Contents

The following reflects the Net (loss) income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

	For the three-months ended		For the six-months ended	
	July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$	July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$
Net (loss) income for basic EPS	(4,835)	75,478	(6,809)	78,699
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:				
Basic	26,487,933	26,299,094	26,456,830	26,270,284
Fully diluted	26,487,933	27,455,005	26,456,830	27,422,066
Net (loss) earnings per share:				
Basic	(0.18)	2.87	(0.26)	3.00
Fully diluted	(0.18)	2.75	(0.26)	2.87

#### 8. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactions with related parties are measured at the exchange amount, being the consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

During the three and six-month periods ended July 30, 2022, the Company purchased merchandise for resale amounting to \$44 and \$44, respectively (July 31, 2021 – \$153 and \$199, respectively) and provided infrastructure and administrative services of \$5 and \$10, respectively (July 31, 2021 – \$5 and \$10, respectively) to a company controlled by one of its executive employees. As of July 30, 2022, an amount of \$2 was outstanding and presented in Accounts and other receivables. As of July 30, 2022, an amount of \$44 was outstanding and presented in Trade and other payables.

#### 9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses. The Company has two operating segments, Canada, and the U.S., that derive their revenues from various distribution channels including online, retail and wholesale. The Company's Chief Executive and Brand Officer and President, Chief Financial and Operations Officer (the chief operating decision makers or "CODM") make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and assesses performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

The Company derives revenue from the following products:

	For the three-n	nonths ended	For the six-m	onths ended
	July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$	July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$
Tea	13,266	16,117	31,241	36,586
Tea accessories	1,484	2,626	3,583	5,406
Food and beverages	475	_	836	_
	15,225	18,743	35,660	41,992

All property and equipment, right-of-used assets and intangible assets are located in Canada.

10

## **Table of Contents**

Results from operating activities before corporate expenses per country are as follows:

For the	three-mo	nths ended	For the six-months ended							
	July 30, 20	022		July 30, 2	022					
Canada	US	Consolidated	Canada	US	Consolidated					
\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$					

Sales	12,827	2,398	15,225	29,572	6,088	35,660
Cost of sales	7,311	1,440	8,751	16,525	3,697	20,222
Gross profit	5,516	959	6,474	13,047	2,392	15,438
Selling, general and administration expenses (allocated)	3,010	379	3,389	6,419	969	7,388
Results from operating activities before corporate expenses	2,506	580	3,085	6,628	1,423	8,050
Selling, general and administration expenses (non-allocated)			7,830			14,637
Results from operating activities			(4,745)		_	(6,587)
Finance costs			167			338
Finance income			(77)			(116)
Net loss before income taxes			(4,835)			(6,809)

	For the	three-mon	ths ended	For tl	ne six-month	ıs ended
		July 31, 202	21		July 31, 202	21
	Canada	US	Consolidated	Canada	US	Consolidated
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Sales	15,046	3,697	18,743	33,175	8,818	41,992
Cost of sales	8,725	2,023	10,748	18,589	4,640	23,229
Gross profit	6,321	1,674	7,995	14,586	4,178	18,763
Selling, general and administration expenses (allocated)	2,458	545	3,003	4,722	1,045	5,767
Results from operating activities before corporate expenses	3,863	1,129	4,992	9,864	3,133	12,996
Selling, general and administration expenses (non-allocated)			6,082			12,512
Restructuring plan activities, net			(75,557)			(77,159)
Results from operating activities			74,467			77,643
Finance costs			23			33
Finance income			(34)			(89)
Net income before income taxes			74,478			77,699

#### 10. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On August 23, 2022, a revolving line of credit on demand with the Bank of Nova Scotia (the "Bank") was established for up to \$15.0 million, less a reserve of \$0.5 million for credit cards based on eligible accounts receivable and inventory balances and subject to financial covenants being met. The credit facility will bear interest at the prime rate plus 1% and is for a three-year period, renewable annually at the lender's option In addition, Investissement Québec has provided a loan loss guarantee under its "Loan Loss Program", securing 50% of any loss incurred by the Bank with respect to the recovery of indebtedness under the line of credit.

11

## **Table of Contents**

#### MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF-FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

## Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes statements that express our opinions, expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or projections regarding future events or future results and there are, or may be deemed to be, "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the "Act"). The following cautionary statements are being made pursuant to the provisions of the Act and with the intention of obtaining the benefits of the "safe harbor" provisions of the Act. These forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms "believes", "expects", "may", "will", "should", "approximately", "intends", "plans", "estimates" or "anticipates" or, in each case, their negatives or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include all matters that are not historical facts and include statements regarding our intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, our strategy of transitioning to e-commerce and wholesale sales, future sales through our e-commerce and wholesale channels, our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and prospects, and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and other geopolitical conditions on the global macroeconomic environment.

While we believe these expectations and projections are based on reasonable assumptions, such forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions about us, including the risk factors listed under Item 1A. Risk Factors, as well as other cautionary language in Form 10-K filed with the SEC on April 29, 2022.

Actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including but not limited to, the following:

- · Our ability to successfully pivot our business to a digital-first strategy, supported by our wholesale distribution capabilities and our retail operations, including our ability to attract and retain employees who are instrumental to growing our online and wholesale channel businesses;
- The duration and impact of the global COVID-19 pandemic, which has disrupted the Company's business and has adversely affected the Company's financial condition and operating results, and may further impact our workforce and operations, the operations of our customers, and those of our respective vendors, suppliers, and partners;
- · Our ability to maintain and enhance our brand image;
- · Significant competition within our industry;
- · Our ability to obtain quality products from third-party manufacturers and suppliers on a timely basis or in sufficient quantities, in light of

supply chain disruptions due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine;

- · Actual or attempted breaches of data security; and
- · The seasonality of our business.

All forward-looking statements should be evaluated with the understanding of their inherent uncertainty. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Form 10-Q, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially-available relevant information. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q might not occur, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-Q. Except as required under federal securities laws and the rules and regulations of the SEC, we do not have any intention to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances arising after the date of this Form 10-Q, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. As a result of these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-Q or that may be made elsewhere from time to time by, or on behalf of, us. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified by these cautionary statements.

12

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Accounting Periods**

All references to "Fiscal 2022" are to the Company's fiscal year ending January 28, 2023. All references to "Fiscal 2021" are to the Company's fiscal year ended January 29, 2022.

The Company's fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to the end of January, typically resulting in a 52-week year, but occasionally giving rise to an additional week, resulting in a 53-week year. The year ended January 29, 2022 and the year ending January 28, 2023 both cover a 52-week period.

#### Overview

The Company offers a selection of high-quality proprietary loose-leaf teas, pre-packaged teas, tea sachets, tea-related accessories, and gifts through its e-commerce platform at www.davidstea.com and the Amazon Marketplace, its wholesale customers which include over 3,800 grocery stores and pharmacies, and 18 Company-owned stores across Canada. The Company offers primarily proprietary tea blends that are exclusive to the Company, as well as traditional single-origin teas and herbs. Our passion for and knowledge of tea permeates our culture and is rooted in an excitement to explore the taste, health and lifestyle elements of tea. With a focus on innovative flavours, wellness-driven ingredients and organic tea, the Company launches seasonally driven "collections" with a mission of making tea fun and accessible to all.

Sales fluctuate from quarter to quarter. Sales are traditionally highest in the fourth fiscal quarter due to the year-end holiday season and tend to be lowest in the second and third fiscal quarters because of lower customer engagement during the summer months.

We believe that our proprietary loose-leaf tea assortment and related product suite differentiates us from competitors in North America and resonates with our target customer base. Our strategy is to stabilize our business from unfavorable trend lines by playing to our core strengths and strengthening our business by focusing on how to grow our product portfolio. This includes migrating sales to a virtual experience and best-in-class customer service execution. We are focused on effectively optimizing our retail footprint into a more sustainable physical presence that complements a growing online and wholesale business, all supported by a right-sized support organization.

In March 2020, the outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus ("COVID-19") was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization and on March 17, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company announced the temporary closure of all its retail stores in Canada and the United States.

Following a careful review of available options to stem the losses generated primarily from its brick-and-mortar footprint, our management and Board of Directors determined that a formal restructuring process was the best option in the context of an increasingly challenging retail environment, further exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic.

On July 8, 2020, the Company announced that it was implementing a restructuring plan (the "Restructuring Plan") under the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada) (the "CCAA") in order to accelerate its transition to predominantly an online retailer and wholesaler of high-quality tea and accessories and that during the restructuring process, the Company would continue to operate its online business through its e-commerce platform and the Amazon Marketplace as well as its wholesale distribution channel. On August 21, 2020, the Company re-opened 18 stores across Canada and permanently closed 164 stores in Canada and all 42 stores in the United States.

At a creditors' meeting held on June 11, 2021, the Company's Plan of Arrangement was approved by the requisite majorities of creditors of DAVIDsTEA Inc. and its subsidiary, DAVIDsTEA (USA) Inc., respectively, in accordance with the CCAA, that is, a simple majority of creditors of DAVIDsTEA Inc. and of DAVIDsTEA (USA) Inc., voting separately, whose claims were affected by the Plan of Arrangement, representing in each case at least two-thirds in dollar value of all such claims duly filed in accordance with the CCAA proceedings.

The approved Plan of Arrangement required that DAVIDsTEA Inc. distribute an aggregate amount of \$17.6 million to its creditors and those of DAVIDsTEA (USA) Inc. in full and final settlement of all claims affected by the Plan of Arrangement on June 18, 2021.

On September 9, 2021, the Monitor filed a Certificate of Termination with the Québec Superior Court in accordance with paragraph 24 of the Sanction Order and declared the CCAA proceedings were terminated without further act or formality.

#### **Table of Contents**

The Company emerged from the Restructuring Plan as a smaller and more invigorated organization, with a renewed sense of purpose and confidence as we continue building a high-performing, future-ready winning culture, driven by purpose. We were founded on a spirit of innovation and of embracing unconventional ideas with a desire to create a North American experience around tea. We removed the boundaries that kept tea in the cupboards of only those in-the-know. We experimented and took risks, attracted passionate employees and as customers became friends, we embraced our brand purpose; a desire to share "positivitea" with all, and use our platform to do good - for business and for the lives of all with whom we interact.

Our actions are driven by the fervent desire to become the world's most innovative tea company; one that inspires greater wellness and sustainability through ethical and sustainable tea sourcing, compostable and regenerative packaging, and caring for our community. Our digital-first strategy is built to respond to consumer demand - meeting consumers where they are, driving loyalty with the ability to scale the business, without borders. We are focused on building a winning culture that is fueled by delighting consumers and driven to overcome challenging operational and market conditions. We are focused on revenue growth, attaining profitability and positive cash-flow, and with an unwavering sense of passion, purpose and commitment to our customers and our stakeholders.

#### **Factors Affecting Our Performance**

We believe that our performance and future success depend on several factors that present significant opportunities for us and may pose risks and challenges, as discussed in the "Risk Factors" section under "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Form 10-K filed with the SEC and on SEDAR and available at www.sec.gov and www.sedar.com, respectively.

#### **How We Assess Our Performance**

The key measures we use to evaluate the performance of our business and the execution of our strategy are set forth below:

*Sales.* Sales are generated from our online stores, retail stores, and from our wholesale distribution channel. Our business is seasonal and, as a result, our sales fluctuate from quarter to quarter. Sales are traditionally highest in the fourth fiscal quarter, which includes the holiday sales period, and tend to be lowest in the second and third fiscal quarters because of lower customer engagement in both our online store and physical locations in the summer months.

The specialty retail industry is cyclical, and our sales are affected by general economic conditions. Several factors influence the level of consumer spending, including economic conditions and the level of disposable consumer income, consumer debt, interest rates and consumer confidence that can affect purchases of our products.

As we have transitioned to generating sales primarily from our online stores, measuring the change in period-over-period comparable same store sales, although still a valid measure within our retail sales channel, loses its significance in the overall evaluation of how our business is performing. Other measures such as sales performance in total and in our e-commerce and wholesale channels begin to influence how we direct resources and evaluate our performance. Factors affecting our performance include:

- $\cdot$  our ability to anticipate and respond effectively to consumer preference, buying and economic trends;
- · our ability to provide a product offering that generates new and repeat visits online and in our other channels;
- the customer experience we provide online and in our other channels;
- the level of customer traffic to our website and our online presence more generally;
- the number of customer transactions and average ticket online;
- · the pricing of our tea, and tea accessories; and
- · our ability to obtain, process and distribute product efficiently.

14

#### **Table of Contents**

*Gross Profit.* Gross profit is equal to our sales less our cost of sales. Cost of sales includes product costs, freight costs, certain store occupancy costs, assembly, and distribution costs.

Selling, General and Administration Expenses. Selling, general and administration expenses ("SG&A") consist of store operating expenses and other general and administration expenses. Store operating expenses consist of all store expenses excluding certain occupancy related costs (which are included in costs of sales). General and administration costs consist of salaries and other payroll costs, travel, professional fees, stock compensation, marketing expenses, information technology, depreciation of property and equipment, amortization of intangible assets, amortization of right-of-use assets, any asset impairment and other operating costs.

General and administration costs, which are generally fixed in nature, do not vary proportionally with sales to the same degree as our cost of sales. We believe that these costs will decrease as a percentage of sales over time. Accordingly, this expense as a percentage of sales is usually higher in lower volume quarters and lower in higher volume quarters.

*Results from Operating Activities.* Results from operating activities consist of our gross profit less our selling, general and administration expenses, and in respect of Fiscal 2021, Restructuring Plan activities, net.

Finance Costs. Finance costs consist of interest expense on lease liabilities.

#### Table of Contents

#### **Selected Operating and Financial Highlights**

#### **Results of Operations**

Sales during the second quarter of Fiscal 2022 decreased by \$3.5 million or 18.7% to \$15.2 million from the prior year quarter due mainly to a decrease in e-commerce sales of \$6.5 million, partially offset by an increase in sales of \$3.0 million from brick-and-mortar and wholesale.

Sales of \$35.7 million in the year-to-date period ended July 30, 2022 decreased by \$6.3 million from the prior year period or 15.0% to \$42.0 million due to a decrease in e-commerce sales of \$11.9 million, partially offset by an increase in sales of \$5.6 million from brick-and-mortar and wholesale.

The Company recorded a Net loss of \$4.8 million in the second quarter compared to a Net income of \$75.5 million in the prior year quarter. Excluding adjustments noted herein, Adjusted net loss<sup>(1)</sup> for the second quarter was \$3.5 million compared to an Adjusted net loss<sup>(1)</sup> of \$2.0 million in the prior year quarter. Adjusted EBITDA<sup>(1)</sup> in the second quarter of Fiscal 2022 was a loss of \$2.1 million compared to a loss of \$0.6 million in the prior year quarter.

The Company recorded a Net Loss of \$6.8 million in the year-to-date period compared to a Net income of \$78.7 million in the prior year period. Excluding adjustments noted herein, Adjusted net loss<sup>(1)</sup> for the year-to-date period was \$4.7 million compared to an Adjusted net loss<sup>(1)</sup> of \$0.6 million in the prior year period. Adjusted EBITDA<sup>(1)</sup> in the year-to-date period of Fiscal 2022 was a loss of \$2.0 million compared to \$1.9 million in the prior year period.

Sales and operating results have been materially impacted by changes in the overall economic condition in North America and the impact these conditions have had on consumer confidence and discretionary spending. Continuing inflationary pressures has resulted in an increase in our cost of goods, transportation, and labour costs. Fears of a looming recession, increases in interest rates, uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, continuing supply chain disruptions, increased input costs, and shortage of technical and skilled labor are expected to have a continuing significant impact on our economic condition that could materially affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

As COVID-19 restrictions loosened in Fiscal 2022, consumer spending shifted out-of-home and we saw a shift away from online to brick-and-mortar. We believe this decline in revenue is temporary as we continue to build on the wellness trend for healthier beverages with our target audiences.

The following table summarizes key components of our results of operations for the periods indicated:

	For the three-months ended					s ended		
	July 30, 2022			July 31, 2021	July 30, 2022			July 31, 2021
Consolidated statement of operations data:				_				
Sales	\$	15,225	\$	18,743	\$	35,660	\$	41,992
Cost of sales		8,751		10,748		20,222		23,229
Gross profit		6,474		7,995		15,438		18,763
Selling, general and administration expenses		11,219		9,085		22,025		18,279
Restructuring plan activities, net		<u> </u>		(75,557)				(77,159)
Results from operating activities		(4,745)		74,467		(6,587)		77,643
Finance costs		167		23		338		33
Finance income		(77)		(34)		(116)		(89)
Net income (loss) before income taxes		(4,835)		74,477		(6,809)		77,698
Recovery of income tax		_		(1,000)		_		(1,000)
Net (loss) income	\$	(4,835)	\$	75,478	\$	(6,809)	\$	78,699
Percentage of sales:								
Sales		100.0%		100.0%		100.0%		100.0%
Cost of sales		57.5%		57.3%		56.7%		55.3%
Gross profit		42.5%		42.7%		43.3%		44.7%
Selling, general and administration expenses		73.7%		48.5%		61.8%		43.5%
Net (loss) income		(31.8)%		402.7%		(19.1)%		187.4%
Other financial and operations data:								
Adjusted EBITDA (1)	\$	(2,128)	\$	(641)	\$	(2,039)	\$	1,864
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of sales		(14.0)%		(3.4)%		(5.7)%		4.4%
Adjusted SG&A (1)	\$	9,894	\$	10,025	\$	19,945	\$	19,421
Adjusted net loss <sup>(1)</sup>	\$	(3,510)	\$	(2,019)	\$	(4,729)	\$	(602)

<sup>(1)</sup> For a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of sales, Adjusted SG&A, Adjusted results from operating activities, and Adjusted net loss, to the most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with IFRS, see "Non-IFRS financial measures and ratios".

#### **Non-IFRS Financial Measures and Ratios**

The Company uses certain Non-IFRS financial measures and ratios for purposes of comparison to prior periods, to prepare annual operating budgets, and for the development of future projections. These measures and ratios are not recognized measures under IFRS, do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. Rather, these measures are provided as additional information to complement those IFRS measures and ratios by providing further understanding of our results of operations from management's perspective. Accordingly, they should not be considered in isolation nor as a substitute for analysis of our financial information reported under IFRS.

We present the following non-IFRS financial measures;

- (a) "Adjusted selling, general and administration expenses" is presented as a supplemental measure because we believe it facilitates a comparative assessment of our selling, general and administration expenses under IFRS, while isolating the effects of some items that are non-recurring by nature or vary from period to period.
- (b) "Adjusted results from operating activities" is presented as a supplemental performance measure because we believe it facilitates a comparative assessment of our operating performance relative to our performance based on our results under IFRS, while isolating the effects of some items that are non-recurring by nature or vary from period to period.
- (c) "Adjusted net (loss) income" is presented as a supplemental performance measure because we believe it facilitates a comparative assessment of our operating performance relative to our performance based on our results under IFRS, while isolating the effects of some items that are non-recurring by nature or vary from period to period.
- (d) "Adjusted EBITDA" is presented as a supplemental performance measure because we believe it facilitates a comparative assessment of our operating performance relative to our performance based on our results under IFRS, while isolating the effects of some items that are non-recurring by nature or vary from period to period. Specifically, Adjusted EBITDA allows for an assessment of our operating performance and our ability to service or incur indebtedness without the effect of non-cash charges, such as depreciation, amortization, finance costs, non-cash compensation expense, loss on disposal of property and equipment, impairment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets, stock-based compensation and certain non-recurring expenses. This measure also functions as a benchmark to evaluate our operating performance.
- (e) Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of sales is calculated by dividing adjusted EBITDA as defined above by the sales figures for a period.

We also present the non-IFRS ratio "Adjusted net (loss) income per common share" for purposes of evaluating underlying business performance relative to our performance based on our results under IFRS, while isolating the effects of some items that vary from period to period.

The use of non-IFRS financial measures and ratios provides complementary information that excludes items that do not reflect our core performance or where their exclusion would assist users in understanding our results for the period. For these reasons, a significant number of users of the MD&A analyze our results based on these financial measures. Management believes these measures help users of MD&A to better analyze results, enabling better comparability of our results from one period to another and with peers.

Management believes that these non-IFRS financial measures and ratios in addition to IFRS measures and ratios provide users of our financial reports with enhanced understanding of our results and related trends and increases the transparency and clarity of the core results of our business.

We believe that although these non-IFRS financial measures provide investors with useful information with respect to our historical operations and are frequently used by securities analysts, lenders, and others in their evaluation of companies, they have limitations as an analytical tool. Some of these limitations are:

- · Adjusted selling, general and administration expenses, Adjusted results from operating activities, Adjusted net (loss) income and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
- Adjusted selling, general and administration expenses, Adjusted results from operating activities, Adjusted net (loss) income and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect the cash requirements necessary to fund capital expenditures; and
- · Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements.

17

## Table of Contents

Because of these limitations, these non-IFRS financial measures should not be considered as discretionary cash available to us to reinvest in the growth of our business or as a measure of cash that will be available to us to meet our obligations.

The following tables provide reconciliations of our Non-IFRS financial measures and ratios to the most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with IFRS:

Reconciliation of Selling, general and administration expenses to Adjusted selling, general and administration expenses

	Fo	r the three-i	mon	ths ended	For the six-m			hs ended
	July 30, 2022			July 31, 2021		July 30, 2022	July 31, 2021	
Selling, general and administration expenses	\$	11,219	\$	9,085	\$	22,025	\$	18,279
Software implementation and configuration costs (a)		(1,325)		(1,592)		(2,080)		(2,454)
Government emergency wage and rent subsidy (b)		_		2,532		_		3,596
Adjusted selling, general and administration expenses	\$	9,894	\$	10,025	\$	19,945	\$	19,421

- (a) Represents costs related to implementation and configuration of software solutions.
- (b) Represents the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan.

Reconciliation of Results from operating activities to Adjusted results from operating activities

	_ <b>F</b>	or the three-	mor	nonths ended		For the six-n		hs ended
	July 30, 2022			July 31, 2021	,			July 31, 2021
Results from operating activities	\$	(4,745)	\$	74,467	\$	(6,587)	\$	77,643
Software implementation and configuration costs (a)		1,325		1,592		2,080		2,454
Restructuring plan activities, net (b)		_		(75,557)		_		(77,159)
Government emergency wage and rent subsidy (c)		_		(2,532)		_		(3,596)
Adjusted results from operating activities	\$	(3,420)	\$	(2,030)	\$	(4,507)	\$	(657)

- (a) Represents costs related to implementation and configuration of software solutions.
- (b) Represents the net gain related to the Restructuring Plan activities which were completed in Fiscal 2021.
- (c) Represents the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan.

18

## **Table of Contents**

Reconciliation of Net (loss) income to Adjusted net (loss)

	For the three-months ended					For the six-m	ont	ths ended									
	July 30,		July 30,		July 30,		July 30,		July 30,		<b>July 30, July 31,</b>		July 30, July 31, July 30,		July 30,		July 31,
		2022		2021		2022		2021									
Net (loss) income	\$	(4,835)	\$	75,478	\$	(6,809)	\$	78,699									
Software implementation and configuration costs (a)		1,325		1,592		2,080		2,454									
Restructuring plan activities, net (b)		_		(75,557)		_		(77,159)									
Government emergency wage and rent subsidy (c)		_		(2,532)		_		(3,596)									
Recovery of income taxes (d)		_		(1,000)		_		(1,000)									
Adjusted net loss	\$	(3,510)	\$	(2,019)	\$	(4,729)	\$	(602)									

- (a) Represents costs related to implementation and configuration of software solutions.
- (b) Represents the net gain related to the Restructuring Plan activities which were completed in Fiscal 2021.
- (c) Represents the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan.
- (d) Represents the reversal of previously accrued estimate of income tax liabilities that was compromised by the Restructuring Plan activities.

Reconciliation of fully diluted net (loss) earnings per common share to Adjusted fully diluted net (loss) per common share

	For the three-months ended					For the six-n	nonths ended		
	July 30 2022		July 31, 2021			July 30, 2022		July 31, 2021	
Weighted average number of shares outstanding, fully diluted		26,487,933		26,299,094		26,456,830		26,270,284	
Adjusted weighted average number of shares outstanding, fully diluted		26,487,933		27,455,005		26,456,830		27,422,066	
Net (loss) income	\$	(4,835)	\$	75,478	\$	(6,809)	\$	78,699	
Adjusted net (loss)	\$	(3,510)	\$	(2,019)	\$	(4,729)	\$	(602)	
Net (loss) earnings per share, fully diluted	\$	(0.18)	\$	2.75	\$	(0.26)	\$	2.87	
Adjusted net (loss) per share, fully diluted	\$	(0.13)	\$	(0.07)	\$	(0.18)	\$	(0.02)	

Reconciliation of Net (loss) income to Adjusted EBITDA

	For the three-months ended					For the six-m	ıths ended	
	July 30,		July 31,		July 30,			July 31,
		2022		2021		2022		2021
Net (loss) income	\$	(4,835)	\$	75,478	\$	(6,809)	\$	78,699
Finance costs		167		23		338		33
Finance income		(77)		(34)		(116)		(89)
Depreciation and amortization		894		1,026		1,760		1,976
Recovery of income taxes		_		(1,000)		_		(1,000)
EBITDA	\$	(3,851)	\$	75,493	\$	(4,827)	\$	79,619
Additional adjustments:								
Stock-based compensation expense (a)		398		363		708		545
Software implementation and configuration costs (b)		1,325		1,592		2,080		2,454
Restructuring plan activities, net (c)		_		(75,557)		_		(77,159)
Government emergency wage and rent subsidy (d)		_		(2,532)		_		(3,596)
Adjusted EBITDA	\$	(2,128)	\$	(641)	\$	(2,039)	\$	1,863

- (a) Represents non-cash stock-based compensation expense.
- (b) Represents costs related to implementation and configuration of software solutions.

- (c) Represents the net gain related to the Restructuring Plan activities which were completed in Fiscal 2021.
- (d) Represents the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan.

19

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Operating results for the three-months ended July 30, 2022 compared to the operating results for the three-months ended July 31, 2021

Sales. Sales decreased 18.7%, or \$3.5 million, to \$15.2 million in the quarter ended July 30, 2022 compared to \$18.7 million in the prior year quarter. Sales in Canada of \$12.8 million, representing 84.2% of total revenues, decreased \$2.2 million or 14.7% compared to the prior year quarter. U.S. sales of \$2.4 million decreased by \$1.3 million or 35.1% compared to the prior year quarter. Our gifting and other assortment generated \$5.7 million and declined slightly compared to the prior year quarter. Sales of \$8.0 million and \$1.5 million in tea and hard goods, respectively declined by \$2.1 million and \$1.1 million from the prior year quarter, respectively. Sales from e-commerce decreased by \$6.5 million or 43.9% to \$8.3 million from \$14.8 million in the prior year quarter. Sales from our wholesale channel increased by \$1.9 million or 238% to \$2.7 million from \$0.8 million in the prior year quarter. Brickand mortar sales for the quarter of \$4.2 million increased by \$1.1 million compared to the prior year quarter explained by an increase in same store comparable sales, in part due to more days of sales during the current year quarter due to fewer government-mandated closures related to the pandemic. E-commerce, wholesale, and brick-and-mortar sales represented 54.6%, 17.8%, 27.6% of sales, respectively compared to 79.1%, 4.3% and 16.6%, respectively in the prior year quarter.

*Gross Profit.* Gross profit of \$6.5 million for the three-months ended July 30, 2022 decreased by \$1.5 million or 19% from the prior year quarter due to a decline in sales during the period, partially offset by lower delivery and distribution costs, compared to the prior year quarter. Gross profit as a percentage of sales decreased to 42.5% for the quarter compared to 42.7% in the prior year quarter.

Selling, General and Administration Expenses. Selling, general and administration expenses ("SG&A") increased by \$2.1 million or 23.1% to \$11.2 million in the quarter compared to the prior year quarter. Excluding the impact of non-recurring software implementation and configuration costs and the impact of the wage and rent subsidies received under the Canadian government COVID-19 Economic Response Plan in the prior year, Adjusted SG&A decreased by \$0.1 million or 1.0% to \$9.9 million in the quarter due primarily to decreases in depreciation and amortization, marketing expenses and credit card fees partially offset by increases in IT ongoing expenses as we continue the transformation to an omnichannel organization. Adjusted SG&A as a percentage of sales in the quarter increased to 65.0% from 53.5% in the prior year quarter.

*Restructuring plan activities, net.* Restructuring plan activities, net was \$nil for the three-month period ended July 30, 2022 compared to a gain of \$75.6 million in the prior year period.

Results from Operating Activities. Loss from operating activities during the quarter was \$4.7 million compared to earnings of \$74.5 million in the prior year quarter. Excluding the impact of the Restructuring Plan, net, the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan, and software implementation costs, Adjusted operating loss amounted to \$3.4 million in the quarter compared to Adjusted operating loss of \$2.0 million in the prior year quarter. The decrease in operating results is explained by the decline in Sales, lower Gross profit and the increased SG&A in pursuit of our ongoing transformation to a digital first organization.

*Finance Costs.* Finance costs amounted to \$167 thousand in the three-months ended July 30, 2022 and compares unfavorably to the prior year period due primarily to the interest expense on our right-of-use assets.

*Finance Income.* Finance income of \$77 thousand is derived mainly from interest on cash on hand and increased slightly from the prior year quarter.

*Net (loss) income.* Net loss was \$4.8 million in the quarter compared to a Net income of \$75.5 million in the prior year quarter. Adjusted net loss, which excludes the impact of Restructuring Plan activities, net, the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan, and software implementation and configuration costs, and recovery of income taxes, amounted to a Net loss of \$3.5 million compared to a Net loss of \$2.0 million in the prior year quarter.

*Fully diluted (loss) earnings per common share.* Fully diluted loss per common share was (\$0.18) in the quarter compared to fully diluted earnings per common share of \$2.75 in the prior year quarter. Adjusted fully diluted loss per common share was (\$0.13) in the quarter ended July 30, 2022 compared to an Adjusted fully diluted earnings per common share of \$0.07 in the prior year quarter.

*EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA*, which excludes non-cash and other items in the current and prior periods, was a loss of \$3.9 million in the quarter compared to \$75.5 million in the prior year quarter representing a decrease of \$79.4 million over the prior year quarter. Adjusted EBITDA for the quarter was a loss of \$2.1 million compared to a loss of \$0.6 million for the prior year quarter. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA of \$1.5 million reflects the impact of the decline in Sales resulting in a lower Gross profit of \$1.5 million, an increase in online marketing expenses of \$0.4 million as we continue the transformation to an omnichannel organization, offset by less administrative staff and professional fees.

20

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Operating results for the six-months ended July 30, 2022 compared to the operating results for the six-months ended July 31, 2021

Sales. Sales for the six-months ended July 30, 2022 decreased by 15.0% or \$6.3 million, to \$35.7 million from \$42.0 million in the prior year period. Sales in Canada of \$29.6 million, representing 82.9% of total revenues, decreased \$3.6 million or 10.8% over the prior year period. U.S. sales of \$6.1 million decreased by \$2.7 million or 30.7% over the prior year period. Our gifting assortment performed well, with sales amounting to \$12.7 million, representing an increase of \$0.6 million or 4.9% over the prior year period. Offsetting this was a decline in our tea and hard-goods assortment over the prior year. Sales from e-commerce decreased by \$11.9 million or 35.9% to \$21.2 million from \$33.1 million in the prior year period as we transition from last year's pandemic-fueled surge of online sales to serving consumers throughout our omni-channel capabilities. Sales from our wholesale channel increased by \$3.1 million or 124% to \$5.6 million from \$2.5 million in the prior year period. Brick-and-mortar sales increased by \$2.5 million or 39.1% to \$8.9

million from \$6.4 million in the prior year period. E-commerce, wholesale, and brick-and-mortar sales represented 59.4%, 15.7%, 24.9% of sales, respectively compared to 79.1%, 4.3% and 16.6%, respectively in the prior year period.

*Gross Profit.* Gross profit decreased by 18.1% or \$3.4 million, to \$15.4 million in the six-month period ended July 30, 2022 in comparison to the prior period due primarily to a decline in sales and a lower gross margin, partially offset by lower delivery and distribution costs and lower retail lease expense compared to the prior year period. Gross profit as a percentage of sales decreased to 43.3% for the six-months ended July 30, 2022, from 44.7% in the prior year period.

Selling, General and Administration Expenses. SG&A increased by \$3.7 million or 20.2%, to \$22.0 million in the six-months ended July 30, 2022 from the prior year period. Excluding the impact of non-recurring software implementation and configuration costs and the impact of the wage and rent subsidies received under the Canadian government COVID-19 Economic Response Plan from the prior year, Adjusted SG&A increased by \$0.5 million to \$19.9 million in the six-months ended July 30, 2022. Adjusted SG&A as a percentage of sales increased to 55.9% from 46.2% in the prior year period.

Restructuring plan activities, net. Restructuring plan activities, net was \$nil for the six-month period ended July 30, 2022 compared to a gain of \$77.2 million in the prior year period.

Results from Operating Activities. Results from operating activities during the six-month period ended July 30, 2022 were negative \$6.6 million as compared to \$77.6 million in the prior year period. Excluding the impact of the Restructuring Plan announced on July 8, 2020, the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan, and non-recurring software implementation costs, Adjusted operating loss amounted to \$4.5 million in the six-months ended July 30, 2022, compared to an adjusted operating loss of \$0.7 million in the prior year period. The decrease in operating results is explained by a decrease in sales partially offset by a reduction in operating costs.

*Finance Costs*. Finance costs amounted to \$0.3 million in the six-months ended July 30, 2022 compared to \$33 thousand in the prior year period. The interest expense relates to the accounting for lease liabilities and increased from the prior year due to leases

*Finance Income.* Finance income of \$116 thousand is derived mainly from interest on cash on hand and increased slightly from \$89 thousand in the prior year period.

*Net (loss) income.* Net loss was \$6.8 million in the six-months ended July 30, 2022 compared to a Net income of \$78.7 million in the prior year period. Adjusted net loss, which excludes the Restructuring Plan activities, net, the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan, non-recurring software implementation costs and recovery of income taxes amounted to \$4.7 million compared to an Adjusted net loss of \$0.6 million in the prior year period. This \$4.1 million difference is driven by the same reasons mentioned above in "Results from operating activities".

Fully diluted (loss) earnings per common share. Fully diluted net loss per common share was (\$0.26) in six-month period ended July 30, 2022 compared to earnings of \$2.87 in the prior year period. Adjusted fully diluted loss per common share, which is Adjusted net loss on a fully diluted weighted average shares outstanding basis, was (\$0.18) compared to an Adjusted net loss of (\$0.02) in the prior year period.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA, which excludes non-cash and other items in the current and prior periods, was a negative \$4.8 million in the six-month period July 30, 2022 compared to \$79.6 million in the prior year period representing a decrease of \$84.4 million over the prior year period. Adjusted EBITDA for the six-months ended July 30, 2022, which excludes the impact of stock-based compensation expense, the Restructuring Plan activities, net, the wage and rent subsidies received from the Canadian government under the COVID-19 Economic Response Plan, and non-recurring software implementation costs was a loss of \$2.0 million compared to \$1.9 million in the prior year period. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA of \$3.9 million is explained by a decrease in Gross profit of \$3.3 million and increases in online marketing expenses as we continue the transformation to an omnichannel organization of \$1.0 million, partially offset by less administrative staff and professional fees.

21

## Table of Contents

Fully diluted

26,487,933

27,455,005

#### Summary of quarterly results

Due to seasonality and the timing of holidays, the results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for the fiscal year. The table below presents selected consolidated financial data for the eight most recently completed quarters.

	Fiscal Ye	ar 2022		Fiscal Ye	ar 2021		Fiscal Ye	ar 2020
	Second Quarter	First Quarter	Fourth Quarter	Third Quarter	Second Quarter	First Quarter	Fourth Quarter	Third Quarter
	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
Sales	15,225	20,435	39,878	22,203	18,743	23,249	40,189	26,225
Net (loss) income	(4,835)	(1,974)	1,291	(1,863)	75,477	3,221	(27,222)	14,467
EBITDA <sup>1</sup>	(3,851)	(976)	2,613	(778)	75,493	4,126	(25,918)	15,295
Adjusted EBITDA <sup>1</sup>	(2,128)	89	3,696	(308)	(641)	2,505	5,384	3,834
Net (loss) earnings per share:								
Basic	(0.18)	(0.07)	0.05	(0.07)	2.87	0.12	(1.04)	0.53
Fully diluted	(0.18)	(0.07)	0.05	(0.07)	2.75	0.12	(1.00)	0.52
Adjusted fully diluted <sup>1</sup>	(0.13)	(0.05)	0.13	(0.01)	(0.07)	0.05	0.15	0.09
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:								
Basic	26,487,933	26,299,094	26,393,118	26,359,969	26,299,094	26,296,690	26,228,206	26,214,573

26,359,969

27,455,005

27,614,734

26,767,470

27,140,065

27,400,840

Cash	19,048	22,680	25,107	13,367	12,051	31,321	30,197	21,925
Accounts receivable	2,497	3,197	3,209	4,602	6,986	6,625	6,157	7,669
Prepaid expenses and								
deposits	5,172	4,479	4,142	4,835	5,580	11,578	14,470	13,400
Inventories	30,234	28,359	31,048	39,802	38,055	29,258	23,468	26,176
Trade and other payables	11,701	8,966	12,300	13,958	12,533	6,154	4,152	3,621

<sup>(1)</sup> For a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of sales, Adjusted SG&A, Adjusted results from operating activities, and Adjusted net loss, to the most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with IFRS, see "Non-IFRS financial measures and ratios".

#### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

As at July 30, 2022, we had \$19.0 million of cash held by major Canadian financial institutions.

Working capital was \$37.3 million as at July 30, 2022, compared to \$43.4 million as at January 29, 2022. The decrease in working capital of \$6.1 million is explained by a decrease in current assets of \$6.6 million that was partially offset by a decrease in current liabilities of \$0.5 million.

Our working capital requirements are for the purchase of inventory, payment of payroll and other operating costs, including software purchases and implementation costs. Our working capital requirements fluctuate during the year, rising in the second and third fiscal quarters as we take title to increasing quantities of inventory in anticipation of our peak selling season in the fourth fiscal quarter. We fund our operating, capital and working capital requirements from a combination of cash on hand and cash provided by operating activities.

On August 23, 2022, a revolving line of credit on demand with the Bank of Nova Scotia (the "Bank") was established for up to \$15.0 million, less a reserve of \$0.5 million for credit cards based on eligible accounts receivable and inventory balances and subject to financial covenants being met. The credit facility will bear interest at the prime rate plus 1% and is for a three-year period, renewable annually at the lender's option In addition, Investissement Québec has provided a loan loss guarantee under its "Loan Loss Program", securing 50% of any loss incurred by the Bank with respect to the recovery of indebtedness under the line of credit.

As at July 30, 2022, the Company has financial commitments in connection with the purchase of goods and services that are enforceable and legally binding on the Company, amounting to \$7.6 million, net of \$719 thousand of advances, which are expected to be discharged within 12 months.

าา

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Cash Flows

A summary of our cash flows used in operating and financing activities is presented in the following table:

	For the three-months ended		For the six-months ended	
	July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$	July 30, 2022 \$	July 31, 2021 \$
Cash flows used in:	<del></del> -	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
Operating activities	(2,735)	(19,079)	(4,413)	(17,772)
Financing activities	(769)	(139)	(1,518)	(322)
Investing activities	(128)	(52)	(128)	(52)
Decrease in cash	(3,632)	(19,270)	(6,059)	(18,146)

*Three-months ended July 30, 2022 compared to three-months ended July 31, 2021* 

Cash flows used in operating activities. Net cash used in operating activities amounted to \$2.7 million for the quarter representing a change of \$16.4 million from the net cash used in operations of \$19.1 million in prior year quarter. The decrease is primarily due to decrease in Trade and other payables over the prior period, offset by an increase of the net loss, net of the gain on liabilities subject to compromise.

Cash flows used in financing activities. Net cash flows used in financing activities of \$769 thousand during the quarter represents an increase of \$630 thousand compared to the prior year quarter due to an increase in lease repayments.

Cash flows used in investing activities. Cash flows used in investing activities of \$128 thousand in the quarter is due to additions to property and equipment.

Six-months ended July 30, 2022 compared to six-months ended July 31, 2021

Cash flows used in operating activities. Net cash used in operating activities amounted to \$4.4 million for the six-month period ended July 30, 2022, representing a change of \$13.4 million from the net cash used in operations of \$17.8 million in the prior year period. The decrease is primarily due to decrease in Trade and other payables over the prior period, offset by an increase of the net loss, net of the gain on liabilities subject to compromise.

Cash flows used in financing activities. Net cash flows used in financing activities of \$1.5 million during the six-month period ended July 30, 2022 represents an increase of \$1.2 million compared to the prior year period due to an increase in lease repayments.

Cash flows used in investing activities. Cash flows used in investing activities of \$128 thousand in the six-months ended July 30, 2022 is primarily due to additions to property and equipment.

Other than certain purchase commitments disclosed elsewhere, we have no other off-balance sheet obligations.

#### **Contractual Obligations and Commitments**

In the normal course of business, we enter into contractual arrangements that will require us to disburse cash over future periods. All commitments have been recorded in our consolidated balance sheets, except for the purchase of goods and services that are expected to be received in future periods. As of July 30, 2022, the Company had financial commitments in connection with the purchase of goods and services that are enforceable and legally binding on the Company, exclusive of additional amounts based on sales, taxes and other costs amounting to \$7.6 million, net of \$719 thousand of advances (January 29, 2022 - \$13.0 million, net of \$7.2 million of advances). These contractual obligations and commitments are expected to be discharged within 12 months.

23

#### **Table of Contents**

#### **Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

Our discussion and analysis of operating results and financial condition are based upon our financial statements. The preparation of financial statements requires us to estimate the effect of various matters that are inherently uncertain as of the date of the financial statements. Each of these required estimates varies in regard to the level of judgment involved and its potential impact on our reported financial results. Estimates are deemed critical when a different estimate could have reasonably been used or where changes in the estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period, and would materially impact our financial position, changes in financial position or results of operations. Our significant accounting policies are discussed under Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements for the year ended January 29, 2022 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K dated April 29, 2022. There have been no material changes to the critical accounting policies and estimates since January 29, 2022.

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There has been no material change in the foreign exchange and interest rate risk discussed in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K dated April 29, 2022.

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk on purchases of our teas and tea accessories.

A significant portion of our tea and tea accessory purchases are in U.S. dollars as is our revenue from U.S. e-commerce customers. As a result, our statement of loss and cash flows could be adversely impacted by changes in exchange rates, primarily between the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar.

#### **Item 4. Controls and Procedures**

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive and Brand Officer and our President, Chief Financial and Operating Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of July 30, 2022. The term "disclosure controls and procedures," as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Act"), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based on the assessment of our disclosure controls and procedures, our management concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of July 30, 2022.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended July 30, 2022 that materially affected, or were reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

24

#### Table of Contents

#### Part II. OTHER INFORMATION

## **Item 1. Legal Proceedings**

From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of business. We are not presently a party to any legal proceedings, government actions, administrative actions, investigations or claims that are pending against us or involve us that, in the opinion of our management, could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results. However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business.

## Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed in our Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended January 29, 2022.

## **Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities**

Not applicable.

## Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

#### **Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures**

Not applicable.

#### **Item 5. Other Information**

None.

25

## **Table of Contents**

## Item 6. Exhibits

## (a) Exhibits:

<u>31.1</u>	Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 as Adopted Pursuant to the Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
<u>31.2</u>	<u>Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 as Adopted Pursuant to the Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.</u>
<u>32.1</u>	Principal Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
<u>32.2</u>	Principal Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Link base Document.
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

## Table of Contents

## **SIGNATURES**

26

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

#### DAVIDSTEA INC.

Date: September 13, 2022 By: /s/ Sarah Segal

Name: Sarah Segal

Title: Chief Executive Officer and Chief Brand Officer

27

## CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 and 15d-14 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Sarah Segal, Chief Executive and Brand Officer, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 30, 2022 of DAVIDsTEA Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 13, 2022	/s/ Sarah Segal
	Sarah Segal
	Chief Executive Officer and Chief Brand Officer

## CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 and 15d-14 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Frank Zitella, President, Chief Financial and Operating Officer, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 30, 2022 of DAVIDsTEA Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 13, 2022

/s/ Frank Zitella

Frank Zitella

President, Chief Financial and Operating Officer

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of DAVIDsTEA Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 30, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Sarah Segal, Chief Executive and Brand Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that based on my knowledge:

- 1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- 2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: September 13, 2022

/s/ Sarah Segal

Sarah Segal

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Brand Officer

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of DAVIDsTEA Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 30, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Frank Zitella, President, Chief Financial and Operating Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that based on my knowledge:

- 1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- 2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: September 13, 2022

/s/ Frank Zitella

Frank Zitella

President, Chief Financial and Operating Officer